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An Gia Real Estate Investment and Development Corporation
GENERAL INFORMATION

THE COMPANY

An Gia Real Estate Investment and Development Corporation (‘the Company”) is a shareholding
incorporated under the Law on Enterprize of Vietnam. pursuant to the Business Registration Certificate
(BRG] Mo, 0311500158 izsued by the Department of Planning and Investment ("OPI} of Ho Chi Minh
City on 18 January 2012 and the 19" amended BRC dated 22 November 2024,

The Compamny's shares wera lizted on the Ho Chi Minh Stock Exchange ("HOSE") with ticker symbal of
AGG in accordance with the License Mo, 554/QD-SGDHCM issued by HOSE on 17 December 2019,

The registered principal activities of the Company ané real estate trading; real estale brokerage; real
estate management; real estate exchange; managemant consulting; advertising; marketing research and
public opinion polling; organisetion of conventions and trading shows, construction of bulkdings;
construction of other civil projects; construction of railways and roads; construction of utility projects;
demalifion and site preparaticn.

The Company's registered head office iz located at Mo, 60, Nguyen Dinh Chieu Siresd, Da Kao Ward,
Digtrizt 1, Ho Chi Minh Sity, Vietnam.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Kembers of the Board of Directars during the year and at the dale of this report are;

Mr Nguyen Ba Sang Chairman

Mr Louis T Mguyven Pamber appointed on 14 May 2024

Mr Le Duy Binh Independant mamber appointed on 14 May 2024

hir Do Le Hung Independent member appainted on 18 October 2024
resigned on 17 May 2024

Mr Masakazu Yamaguchi Member resigned on 17 May 2024

Wr Wu Quang Thinh independent meamibar resigned on 17 May 2024

Mr Dao Thal Phue Mamber resigned on 17 May 2024

AUDIT COMMITTEE UNDER THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Kembars of Audit committee under the Board of Directors during the year and at the date of this repost
are:

Mr Do Le Hung Chairman appointed on 25 October 2024
resigned on 17 May 2024

Mr Le Cuy Binh Chairman resignad on 25 Octobar 2024
appainted on 17 May 2024

Member appointed on 25 Oclober 2024

Mr Louis T Mguyan Marmber appointed on 17 May 2024

Mr Wu Quang Thinh Mamber regigned on 17 May 2024

Mr Masakazu Yamaguchi hember resigned on 17 May 2024

MANAGEMENT

Members of Management during the year and al the date of this report ane;

ir Mguyen Thanh Son General Director resigned on 3 June 2024
appointed on 15 January 2024

brs Mguyen Mal Glang Depuly General Director

Mr Mguyen Thanh Chau Chief Accountant

LEGAL REPRESENTATIVE

The legal representative of the Company durng the yvear and ab the date of this report is
Mr Mguyen Ba Sang.

AUDITORS
The auditer of the Company is Ernst & Young Vietnam Limited.
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An Gia Real Estate Investment and Development Corporation

REPORT OF THE MAMAGEMENT AND APPROVAL OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors of An Gia Real Estate Investment and Development Corporation (“the
Company”) presents this report relating to the consolidated financial statements of the Company and
its subsidianes (“the Group") for the year endad 31 December 2024

MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE COMNSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Management iz responsible for the consolidated financial statements of each financial year which
give a true and fair view of the consclidaied financial position of the Group and of the consolidaled
resultz of its operations and ifs consolidated cash flows for the year, In preparing those consolidated
financial statements, management is required fo;

F zelect suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
F make judgemants and estimates that are reazonable and prudent;

b state whethar applicable accounting standards have bean followed, subject o any material
departures disclosed and explained in the consolidated financial statements; and

+ prepare the consolidated financial statements on the going concern basis unless I S
inappropriate to preésume that the Group will continue its businass,

Management is responsible for ensuring that proper accounting records are kept which disclosa,
with reasonable accuracy al any time, the consolidated financial position of the Group and o ensure
that the accounting records comply with the applied accounting system. It is also responsible for
safequarding the assets of the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other iregularities.

Management confirmed that it has complied with the asbove requirements in preparng the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We hereby apprave the accompanying consolidated financial statements, which give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024 and of the
consofidated results of its operations and ils consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Vietnamese Accounting Standards, Vietnamesa Enterprise Accounting System and
the statutory requirements relevant to the preparation and presentation of the consgolidated financial
statements

ehalf of Board of Directors:

' Chalrran

Hao Chi Minkh City, Vietnam

28 March 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To: The Shareholders of An Gla Real Estate Investment and Development Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of An Gila Real Estate
Investment and Developmant Corporation ("the Company”} and its subsidiaries ("the Group™) as
prepared on 28 March 2025 and set out on pages 5 to 51, which comprise the consolidated balance
sheet as at 31 December 2024, the consolidated Income statement and the consolidated cash flow
statermneant for the year then ended and the notes therato.

Management's responsibility

The Company's management is respansible for the preparation and fair presentation of these

eonsolidated financial statements of the Group in accordance with Vietnamese Accounting Standards,

Vietnamese Enterprise Accounting System and the statutory requirements relevant fo the preparation
and presentation of the consolidated financial statements, and for such intemnal control as the
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation and presentation of the consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatemant, whether due fo fraud or error.

Auditors' responsibility

Owr responsibility ks to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Vistnamese Standards on Auditing. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statemnents, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors conskder
internal cantral relevant to the Group's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statemnents in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but nat for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's intemal cantral. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasanableness of
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consalidatad financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obiained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion.
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Dpinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statermants give a true and fair view, in all material respects,
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of the consolidated
results of its operations and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Vietnamese Accounting Standards, Vietnamese Enterprise Accounting System and the statutory
requirements relevant to the preparation and presentation of the consalidated financial statements.

Mgo Tran Cuang

Auditor

Audit Practicing Registration Certificate
Mo. 2266-2023-004-1 Mo, 5629-2025-004-1

Ho Chi Minh City, Visgtnam
28 March 2025
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An Gia Real Estate Investment and Development Corporation Bo1-DN/HN

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
as al 31 Dacambar 2024

VND
Code | ASSETS Notes Ending balance | Beginning balance
100 | A. CURRENT ASSETS 6,810,046 786, 567 | 8,302397.078,032
110 | I. Cash and cash equivalents 5 167,279,797,712 772407, 784,627
111 1. Cash 182,779,787, 712 172,357 784 B2T
112 2. Cash equivalents 4 500,000,000 BO0, 050,000,000
120 | . Short-term investment 30,703,957,2683 B4,530,326,729
123 1. Held-to-maturity investments B.1 30,103,957 263 54, 530,326,729
130 | M. Current accounts receivable 4, 717,488,994,753 | 5,794,930,666, 104
131 1. Short-term frade recaivablas 7 5 574,788,122 435 015,687 564
132 2. Short-term advances lo
suppliers B 16,389, 380,201 308,137,800
135 3. Short-term loan receables B 2 558,068 000,000 | 2.,931,309,916,000
136 4, Other short-term receivables 10 1,660 456 818,430 | 1,854 206,924, 740
137 5 Provision for doubtful
short-term recaivables 10 (27 .000,000,000) (27,000, 000,000
140 | IV. Inventory 775,043 080525 | 2,014 477,764,028
141 1, Inventories 11 775,043,080,525 | 2,014,477, 764,028
150 | \. Other current assets 128,230,058, 314 266,051,436,544
151 1. Shor-term prepaid expenses 12 111,849,117,158 260,358,616,329
162 2. Nalue-added tax deductible 16,280,939,158 4,110,764 348
153 3. Taxand other receivables
from the State - 1,582 055 867




An Gia Real Estate Investment and Development Corporation Bot1-DNHN

COMSOLIDATED BALAMCE SHEET (confinued)
as at 31 December 2024

VND

Code | AZZETE Notes Ending balance Baginning balance
200 | B. NON-CURRENT ASSETS 1,216,437 180,660 991,000,008,732
210 | I Nen-current receivables 1,086,855 587 946 730,.620,587,628
215 1. Long-term loan receivables g 250,410, 000,000 118,139,200,000
216 2. Other long-term receivables 10 B26, 445 587 046 612,481,381, 628
220 | . Fixed assels 20,750,732 378 29 895 584,284
221 1. Tangible fixed asseal 13 10,069, 190,374 14,271,185,568
222 Cost 24 369 631,773 28,058,631,773
223 Accumulated depreciation {14,300 441, 399) (13,787,345 205)
227 2. Intangible fixed assat 14 10,081,542 004 15,624 387 718
228 Cost 19,238 448 Dg2 189,238 448,082
228 Apcumulated amortisation {9,156,906,078) (3.514,050,355)
230 | WL Investment properties 15 31,815,070, 727 4(0,647,158,989
23 1. Cost 33,T63,369,303 45,604, 985,031
232 2. Accumulated depreciation {1,548,298,576) (5,957,787, 042)
250 | V. Long-term investmonts - 88,424, 700,000
252 1. Invesiments in agsociates 16 - #
254 2. Provigion for diminution in

value of long-term

investments 6.2 (89,424 700,000} i
2585 3. Held-to-maturity investments 6.2 20,424 700,000 28,424 .700,000
260 | V. Other long-term assets 77,615 789,609 100,412,033,831
261 1. Leong-term prepaid expenses 12 4,038,714,419 B,488, 899 173
262 2. Deferred tax assels 3.3 73,577,075,190 83 923,134 658
270 | TOTAL ASSETS 7,035,483 967 227 9,293, 398,076,764




An Gia Real Estate Investment and Development Corporation B01-DN/HN

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (continuad)
for the year ended 31 Dacamber 2024

Mguyen Thi Y Mhi
Preparar

; Ngﬁan Thanh Chau
* Chief Accountant

YND
Code | RESOURCES Notes Ending balance | Baginning balance
300 | C. LIABILITIES 3,898,395 385,751 | 6,417,276,635,123
310 | L. Current labilities 3,210,829,019,08% | 5,284,699 369,802
311 1. Shor-term trade payables 17 285,985 018 321 476,953,425,669
312 2. Shor-term advances from
cuslomers 18 479 847 003 827 | 1,8590,203,601,857
313 3. Statutory obligations 19 197,216,134, 730 233,642 368,645
314 4. Payables o employees 160,000,000 20,000,000
315 & Shorl-term accrued expenses | 20 435,493,893, 220 538,673,824, 231
318 6. Shor-term unearmed revenuss 25,510,000 303,200,000
319 7. Other shor-term payables 21 745,067,978,046 | 1,345,628,782 646
320 8. Shart-term leans 22 1.046,029,080,929 769,264,158, 753
az22 9. Bonus and welfare fund 315 20,000,000,000 20,000,000, 000
330 | . Nen-current labilities G87,566,366,668 | 1,132577,265,221
337 1. Other long-term liabilities 21 114,626, 783,880 110,362 302 259
338 2. Leng-term loans 22 371,116,500,000 E591,065,000,000
241 3. Deferred tax liabilifias 31.3 128,223 717,807 265,757, 731,326
342 i, Long-term provisions 23 72,550, 364,981 65.402,231,635
400 | D, OWMERS' EQUITY 3,137,088,681,476 | 2,876,121,441,641
470 [ I. Capital 241 | 3,137,088681,476 | 2876, 127,447,641
411 1. Share capital 1,625,280,810,000 | 1,251,183,680,000
411a - Bharas with voting rghts 1,625 280 870,000 | 1,257, 183,680.000
412 2. Share premium 179,038,188,200 179,038,188 ,200
421 3. Undistributed eamings 1,291.766,446 760 | 1,3658,363,028,5841
d427a - Undisinbuted samings
by the end of prior year 994 265 698,841 | 1,193,004, 923 583
4270 - Undisinbuted eamings
of current year 297 500,547,919 175,358, 105,258
429 4. Moen-controlling interests 41,002,136,516 77,535,544 800
440 | TOTAL LIABILITIES AND
OWHNERS' EQUITY 7.035483, 967,227 | 9,293,398,076,764
Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam
28 March 2025
-"--. ﬁ-. -
.-"'--ﬂg:ﬁ -
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Fauyen Ba Sang
Legal representative




An Gia Real Estate Investment and Development Corporation Bo2-ONHN

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
for the year endad 31 Dacamber 2024

\_ W

VIND
Code | ITEMS Molas Currant year Fravious year

01 | 1. Revenue from sale of goods

and rendering of services 251 | 1,913,398,478,509 | 3,891,046,850,177
10 | 2. Het revenue from sale of goods

and rendering of services 251 1,813,398,478,500 | 3,891,046,850,177
11 | 3. Costof goods sold and

services rendered 26 |(1,319,924,910,206) ((2,914,160,760,231)
20 | 4. Gross profit from sale of goods

and rendering of services 5893,473,568,303 976,886,089,946
21 Finance incomae 25.2 381,241,548, 277 370,780,013,174
22 Finance expenses 27 {330,556,810,713) | (203,969,933,320)
23 In which: Interast expense (128,271,344, 447} | (118,811,087,379)
24 | ¥. Shares of loss of associates 16 - (71,607,695,982)
25 Selling expenses 28 (246,175,817,079) | (509,964,135,6898)
26 General and administrative

EXpeNses (91,163,939,505) (60,714,514,227)
30 | 10. Operating profit 306,828,647 283 501,408,823,893
31 | 11. Other income 29 15.802,206,988 97,930,665,965
12 | 12. Other sxpenses 29 (21,011,224,801) {17,297,078,535)
40 | 13. Other [loss) profit 28 {5,209,017,813) B0,633,587,430
50 | 14. Accounting profit before tax 301,619,529.470 5B82,043,411,323
51 | 15. Current corporate incoma tax

expense 3 {156,803,581,857) | (200,312,881,602)
62 | 16. Deferred tax incomea 314 116,187,954,051 78,653,526,126
60 | 17. Met profit after tax 261,003,901,664 460,384,055,847
61 | 18. Net profit after tax attributable

to shareholders of the parent 297.500,547,919 175,258,105,258
62 | 19. Met (loss) profit after tax

attributable to non-controlling

Interests 24.1 {(36,496,646,255) 285,025,950,588
70 | 20. Basic earnings per share 24.5 1,830 1,078
71 | 21. Diuted eamings per share 24.5 1,830 1.078

inh City, Vietnam

28 March 2025

Mguyen Thi Y Nhi

Fraparaer

ﬂgwﬁn Thanh Chau
-

Fiel Accountant

&

LEQEI reprasantative



An Gia Real Estate Investment and Development Corporation  Bo3-DN/HN

COMSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
for the year ended 31 December 2024

VNG
Code | ITEMS hb:ssf Current year Previous year
I. CASH FLOWS FROM
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
01 | Accounting profit before tax 301,619,6529.470 582 043,411,323
Adiustments for;
0z Depreciation and amortisation 9,834,507,910 5,223 452 BST
03 Provision 86,621,833,345 16,868,159, 847
04 Foreign exchange lossas arising
from revaluation of monetary
accounts denominaled in foreign
currency 34 445,104,003 26,516,244 147
05 Prafits fram Investing activities (348, 770,478,218) | (275411,240,032)
oG Interest expanses and allocation of
bond issuance costs 27 131,281,551 381 128,689,114 568
08 | Operating profit before changes in
working capital 225,032,139,881 484,029,1562,711
}] Increase in receivables (B5, 119, 2T0BT2) | (393,565,026,941)
10 Decraasa in inventories 1,018,198 575,136 | 1400,761,033,183
11 Decrease in payables (1.882,769,252, T65) | (1,293,074,203.453)
12 Decrease in prepaid expenses 150,859,683 526 276,100,242, 806
14 Interest paid (196,592 240,187) (78,039,106,091)
15 Corporate income tax paid 18 (174,249 623 983} | (274,164, 586,305)
20 | Met cash flows (used in) from
operating activities 1944,640,688,864) 120,747 495,970
Il. CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES
21 Purchase and construction of
fixed assels {1,197 274,174) (2,440,627 ,.927)
22 Proceed from disposal of fixed
assels 69,510,593 448 1,345,454 545
23 Loans fo othar entities and
payments for term bank deposits (3,082, 895,622 476) [{2,115,753,007,131)
24 Callections from borrowers and
term bank deposits 3,243 993 107,842 | 1919220940537
25 Payments for investments in other
antitles (472,000,000,000% | (251,580,000,000)
26 Collection from invesiments in
other antities 238, 110,060,000 | 1,206,158,747.914
27 Interast receivad 550 953 428 471 177,443,851 853
30 | Met cash flows from investing
activities 645,374,293,209 234,395,269,791




An Gia Real Estate Investment and Development Corporation  B03-DNHN

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT (continued)
for the year ended 31 Dacember 2024

VND
Code |ITEMS MNotes Current year Pravious year
. CASH FLOWS FROM
FINAMNCING ACTIVITIES
23 Drawdown of borrowings 22 745 680,406,555 993,202 440,788
34 Repaymant of borrowings 22 [(1,051,308,944 600) [(1,103.448,414,427)
38 Dividends paid {232,812.403) | (195,284,862, 022)
40 | Met cash flows used in financing
activities (305,862,060,448) | (305,530,835,661)
50 | Mot (decrease) increase in cash
for the year (605,128,456,103) 49,611,930,100
60 | Cash and cash equivalents
at beginning of the year 772,407,784,627 722,795,598,674
&1 | Impact of exchange rate fluctuation 459,188 255 853
70 | Cash and cash equivalents
at end of the year 5 167,279,797, 712 772,407 764,627

i Minh City, Vietnam

28 March 2025

R il

Naguyen Thi ¥ Nhi gufien Thanh Chau Nguyen Ba Sang
Praparar Mhi&f Accountant !f Legal representative
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An Gia Real Estate Investment and Development Corporation Bog-DNHN

MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

An Gia Real Esfate Investment and Dewvelopment Corporation (the Company”) is a
sharehaolding company incorporated under the Law on Enterprise of Vietnam pursuant to the
Business Registration Certificate ("BRC") No. 0311500196 issued by the Depariment of
Planning and Investment ("OP1"} of Ho Chi Minh City on 18 January 2012 and the 18%
amendad BRC dated 22 Movember 2024,

The Company's shares were listed on the Ho Chi Minh Stock Exchange ("HOSE") with
ticker symbol of AGG in accordance with the Licensa No. 654/QD-3GOHCM issued by
HOSE on 17 Decamber 2015,

The registered principal activities of the Company and its subsidianes ("the Group”) are real
estate trading; real estate brokerage, real estate management, real estate exchange;
management consulting; adverfising; marketing research and public opinion palling;
organisation of conventions and trading shows, construction of buildings; construction of
other civil projects; construction of railways and roads; construction of utility projects
demolition and site preparation,

The Company's registered head office is located &t No, 60, Nguyan Dinh Chieu Street, Da
Kao Ward, District 1, Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam

The number of the Group’ employaes as at 31 December 2024 is 101 (31 December 2023:

8a)

Corporate structure

As at 31 December 2024, the Company has five (5) direct subsidiaries (31 December 2023:
9).as follows:

Mame of subsidiaries Activities % holding %5 woling rght

Ending Beginning  Ending Beginning
balaince  balance  balance halance

Direct subsidiaries

Al & HER Consultant Joint Investment
Stock Company [("AGIH & HSR") and
management

consultancy 50.09 50.09 50.09 50.09

An Gia Phu Thuan Real Estats |\
Investmant Company Limiled

{"Phu Thuan") 100 100 100 100

Western City Company Limited

("Western City") 55,89 59,99 08 09 98,99
Trade real

Phuoc Loc Investment
Censtruction Tourlsm estate
Corporation ("Phuoc Loc") 99,08 55,06 r— —

Le Gia Real Estate development
Investmeant Joint Stock
Company {"Le Gia") J 09,99 £8.99 89.99 Bo.99

77



An Gia Real Estate Investment and Development Corporation Bog-DN/HN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuad)
as at 31 Decamber 2024 and for the year then ended

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

CORPORATE INFORMATION {continued)

Corporate structure (continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the Company has one (1) indirect subsidiaries (31 December
2023: 1) as follows:

Name of subsidianes Achivilies % holding *o voting right

Ending Beginning Ending Beginming
balance balance  balance  balance

Indirect subsidiaries

An Gia Phu Thinh Joint Stock Trade real
Company (*Phu Thinh") eatate 50.08 R0.09 0995 9,89

As at 31 December 2024, the Company has two (2) associates as disclosed in Note 16 (31
Decembear 2023; 4).

BASIS OF PREPARATION

Accounting standards and system

The consclidated financial statements of the Group, expressed in Vietnam dong ("VND),
are prepared In accordance with Vietnamese Enterprise Accounting Systerm and other
Vietnamease Accounting Standards issued by the Ministry of Finance as per.

¢ Decision Mo, 149/2001/QD-BTC dated 31 December 2001 on the lssuance and
Promulgation of Four Vietnamese Accounting Standards (Series 1),

» Decision Mo, 185/2002/QD-BTC dated 31 December 2002 on the |ssuance and
Promuigation of  Six Vietnamese Accounting Standards (Series 2},

# Decision No. 234/2003/QD-BTC dated 30 December 2003 on the |ssuance and
Promulgation of Six Vietnamasa Accounting Standards (Series 3),

» Decision No. 12/2005/QD-BTC dated 15 February 2005 on the |ssuance and
Promulgation of Six Vietnamese Accounting Standards (Series 4); and

¢ Decision No. 100/2005/QD-BTC dated 28 December 2005 on the Issuance and
Promulgation of Four Vietnamese Accounting Standards (3eries 5),

Accordingly, the accompanying consolidated financial statements, including their utilisation
are nol designed for those who are not informed about Vietnam's accounting principles,
procedures and practices and furthermore are not Intended to present the consolidated
financial position and consolidated results of its operations and its consolidated cash flows
In accordance with accounting principles and practices generally accepted in countries
other than Vietnam.

Applied accounting documentation system
The applied accounting documentation system is General Journal system

Fiscal year

The Group's fiscal year appiicable for the preparation of its consolidated financial
statements starts on 1 January and ends on 31 December.

Accounting currency

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in VND which is also the Group's
accounting currency.

12



An Gia Real Estate Investment and Development Corporation Bog-DN/HN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then endad

2.5

a1

3.2

3.3

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continuad)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company
and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2024,

Subsidiary is fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the
Group obiains control, and continued to be consolidated until the date that such control
Ceases.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporling period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies.

All intra-company balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains or losses rasulting
from intra-company fransactions are eliminated in full.

Mon-controlling interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets noft held by the
Group and are presented separately [n the consolidated income statement and within equity
in the consclidated balance sheet.

Impact of change in the ownership Interest of subsidiaries, without a loss of control, is
recorded in undistributed earnings,

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash eguivalents comprise cash on hand, cash in banks and short-term, highly
Bquid investments with an original maturity of less than three months that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and that are subject to an Insignificant sk of
change in valua.

Receivables

Receivables are prasented In the consalidated financial staternants at tha carrying amounts
due from customers and other debtors, after provigion for doubtful debits.

The provision for doubtful debts represents amounts of outstanding receivables at the
balance sheet date which are doubtful of being recovered. Increases or decreases to the
provision balance are recorded as general and administrative expenses in the consolidated
income statement

Inventories
inventory properfies

Inventory properties, comprising mainly real estate properties, acquired or being constructed
for sale in the ordinary course of business, rather than to be held for rental or capital
appreciation, is held as Inventory and is measured at the lower of cost and net realisable
value,

Cost includes:

Land use rights;

Interest expense is capitalised;

Construction and developmant costs; and

Planning and design costs, costs of site preparation, professional fees for legal
servicas, property transfer taxes, construction overheads and other related costs,

Met realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of the business,
based on market prices at the balance shest date and discounted for the time value of
money if material, less costs to completion and the estimaled costs of sale.

" @ % ¥
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An Gia Real Estate Investment and Development Corporation Bog-DNHN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
g5 at 31 Decamber 2024 and for the year then ended

3.
3.3

3.4

3.5

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

INVENTORIES {conftinuad)
inventary properties (confinued)

The cost of inventory recognised in the consolidated income statement on disposal is
determined with reference to the specific costs incurred on the properly sold and an
allocation of any non-specific costs based on the relative size of the property sold.

Oitthar nventones

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost incurred in bringing each product to its present
lecation and condition and net realisabla value,

Met realisable value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less the estimated costs to complete and the estimated costs necessary to make
the saile,

The perpetual methad s used to record inventories, which are valued as follows:
Merchandise - cost of purchase on a specific identification basis
Service in progress - actual cost as incurred

Provision for obsolete inventaries

An inventory provision is made for the estimated loss arising due to the impairment of value
{through diminution, damage, obsolescenca, etc.} of inventaries owned by the Group, based
on appropriate evidence of impairment available at the consolidated balance sheet date

Increases or decreases to the provision balance are recorded into the cost of goods sold
account In the Interim consolidated income statemant When inventories become wseless,
tha difference between the provision previously made and the historical cost of inventories
are [ncludad in the consolidated income statemeant,

Tanglble fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation.

The cost of a tangible fixed asset comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the tangible fixed asset to working condition for its intended use.
Expenditures for additions, improvements and renewals are added to the carrying amount of
the assets and expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to the consolidated
income statament as incurred,

When tangible fixed assets are sold or retired, any gain or loss resulting from their disposal
{the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount) Is included in
the consofidated income statement.

Intangible fixed assets

Intangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated amartisation.

The cost of an intangible fixed asset comprises its purchase price and any directy
attributable costs of preparing the intangible fixed asset for its intended use. Expenditures
for additions, improvements are added to the camying amount of the assets and other
expenditures are charged to the consolidated income statemant as incurred.

When intangible fixed assets are sold or retired, any gain or loss resulling from their
disposal (the difference between the net disposal procesds and the carrying amount) is
included in the consolidated Income statement.
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An Gia Real Estate Investment and Development Corporation B0g-DN/HN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

3.6

3.7

3.8

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Depreciation and amortisation

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets and amortisation of intangible fixed assets are
calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of each asset as follows:

Means of ransportation B years
Dffice equipment 3-8 years
Qther tangible fixed assals 5 years
Computer software 3 years
Other intangible fixed assals 3 years
Investment properties

Investment proparties are stated at cost including transaction costs less accumulated
depreciation. Investment properties held for capital appreciation are nol depreciated but
subject to impairment review.

Subsequent expendilure relating to an investment property that has already been
recognised ks added to the net book value of the investment property when it |s probable
that future economic benafits, in excess of the originally assessed standard of performance
of the axisting investmant property, will flow to the Group.

Depreciation of investmenl properlles are calculated on & straight-line basis over the
estimated useful life of each assel. Apartments for lease are depreciated over 40 years.

For long-term lease of investment properties which the Group receives rental fee in advance
for many pericds and rental income is recognised one at the entire rental amount received
in advance as presented in Note 3.17, depreciation and amortisation of these investment
properties are recognised with antire amount at the point of revenue recognition.

Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when
the investment properties are permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic
benefit is expected from its disposal. The difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the camrying amount of the assels |s recognised in the consolidated income statemant in the
period of refirement or disposal.

Transfers are made to investment propertes when, and only when, there is a change in usa,
evidenced by ending of owner-cccupation, commencement of an operating lease to another
party or ending of construclion or development. Transfers are made from Investment
properties when, and only when, there is change in use, evidenced by commencement of
owner-occupation or commencament of development with a view to sale. The transfar Trom
investment property to awner-occupied property or inventories does not change the cost or
the carrying value of the property for subsequent accounting at the date of change in usa.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that the Group incurs in connection with
the borrowing of funds and recorded as expense during the year in which they are incurred,
except to the extent that they are capitalised as explained in the follawing paragraph.

Borrowing cosis that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of
an asset that necessarily take a substantial penod of time to get ready for its intended use
or sale are capitalised as part of tha cost of the respective asset,
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MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 Dacember 2024 and for the year then ended

35

210

3.1

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Frepald oxpenses

Prepald expenses are reported as shortterm and leng-lerm prepaid expenses on the
consolidated balance sheet and amortised over the period for which the amounts are paid or
the period in which econemic benefits are generated in refation o these expenses.

The following lypes of expenses are recorded as prepaid expensas and are amortised from
1 o 3 years or recognised matching with revenue to the consolidated incomea statement

» Tools and consumables with large value and can be used for more than one yaar,
s [Mhce rencvation; and
s Gallery house.

Business combination and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the purchase method. The cost of an
acqulsition is measured as the fair value of the assets given, aquity instrumants issued and
llabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the
acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially at falr values at the date of business
cambination.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the cost of the business
combination over the Group's share in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the
nat asseis of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognized directly in the
consolidated income statemant. After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
accumulated amortization. Amortization of goodwill is calculated on a straight-line basis over
ten (10) years during which the source embodying economic benefits are recovered by the
Group. The Group conducts the periodical review for impairment of goodwill of investment in
subsidiaries. If there are indicators of Impakment loss incurred is higher than the annually
allocated amount of goodwill an the straight-line basis, the higher amount will be recorded In
the consclidated income statement.

Inmvestmeants
Invasiments in associafes

The Group's investments in its associate are accounted for using the equity method of
accounting. An associate is 8n entity in which the Group has significant influence that is
naither subsidiaries nor joint venture. The Group ganerally deems they hawve significant
influence if they have from and above 20% of the voting rights.

Under the equity method, the investment is carried in the consolidated balance sheet at cost
plus post acquisition changes in the Group' share of net assets of the associates. Goodwill
arising on acquisition of the associate is Included in the camying amount of the investment.
Goodwill is not amortised and subject to annual review for impairment. The consolidated
Income - statement reflecis the share of the post-acquisition resulis of operation of the
associate,

The share of post-acquisition profit (loss) of the assoclates Is prasented on face of the
consclidated income statement and Hs share of post-acquisition movemenis in resernves is
recognised in reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against
the carrying amount of the investment Dividend receivable from associates reduces the
carmying amount of the investmeant

The financial statements of the sssociales are prepared for the same reporting period and
use the same accounting policies as the Group. Whera necassary, adjustments are made to
bring the accounting policies in line with thase of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

3,11

J.92

3.13

3.74

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

investments (continued)
Held-far-trading securities and investments in other entities

Held-for-trading securitles and in securities and investments in other entities are stated at
their acquisition costs.

Brovision for diminution in value of investments
Provision of the imvestment is made when there are reliable evidences of the diminution in
value of those investmenis at the balanca sheet date.

Increases or decreases to the provision balance are recorded as finance expense in the
consolidated income statement.

Held-lo-malunlly invesimants

Held-to-maturity investments are stated at their acquisition costs, Afer initial recognition,
held-to-maturily investments are measured at recoverable amounl Any Impairment loss
incurred Is recognised as expense in the consolidated financial statements and deducted
against the value of such investments.

Payables and accruals

Payables and accruals are recognised for amounts to be pald in the future for goods and
services raceived, whether ar not billed to the Group.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive)
as a resull of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic
banefits will be required to settle the cbligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligaton.

Warranty obligation of apartrents is provided frem 1% to 2% of construction costs.

Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in currencies other than the Group's reporting currency of VND are recorded at
the actual transaction exchange rates at transaction dates which are datermined as follows:

- Transaction resulting In receivables are recorded at the buying exchange rates of the
commercial banks designated for collaction; and

- Transactions resulting in liabilities are recorded at the selling exchange rates of the
commercial banks designated for payment.

At the end of the year, monetary balances denominated in foreign currencies are franslated
at the actual exchange rates at the balance sheet date which are determined as follaws:

- Monetary assets are franslated at buying exchange rate of the commercial bank where
the Group conducts transactions regularly; and

- Monetary liabllities are translated at selling exchange rate of the commercial bank
where the Group conducts transactions regularly.

All foreign exchange differences incurred are taken to the consolidated income statement
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 Decamber 2024 and for the year then endad

J.15

316

397

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Appropriation of net profits

Net profit after tax (excluding negative goodwill arising from a bargain purchase) is available
for appropriation to shareholders after approval in the annual general mesting, and after
making appropriation to reserve funds In accordance with the Company's Charter and
Wietnam's regulatory requirements.

The Group maintains the following reserve fund which is appropriated from its nel profit after
tax as proposed by the Board of Directors and subject to approval by shareholders at the
Annual General Meefing:

Banus and welfare fund

This fund is set aside for the purpose of pecuniary rewarding and encouragemant, commaon
benefits and improvement of the employees' benefits, and presented as a liability on the
consclidated balance sheet,

Earnings per share

Basic eamings per share amounts are calculated by dividing net profit after tax for the year
aftributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company (after adjusting for the bonus and
walfare fund) by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the
year.

Diluted eamings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net profit after tax
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company (after adjusting for intarest on the
convartible preference shares) by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the year plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that
would be Issued on conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary
shares.

Rovenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow fo
the Group and the revenus can be reliably measured, Revenue is measured at the fair value
of the consideration recelved or receivable, excluding trade discount, rebate and sales
return. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is

recognised:
Sale of properties

A property is regarded as soid when the significant risks and returns have been transferred
to the buyer, which is normally on unconditional exchange of coniracts. For conditional
exchanges, sales are recognised only when all the significant conditions are satisfied.

Rendering of brokerage service, consultation service and other services
Revenue is recognised when rendering services is rendered and complated,
Ranlal income

Rental incame arising from operating leases is accounted for on a siraight line basis over
the terms of the lease.

interasl ihoama

Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues (laking Into account the effective yield on the
asset) untess collectability is in doubt

Chvidends
Income is recognised when the Group’s entitlement as an investor to receive the dividend is
established.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

.18

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Taxation
Current incame fax

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior years are measured at the
amount expected to be recoverad from ar paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and
tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted as at the balance sheet
date.

Current income tax is charged or credited to the consolidated income statement, except
when it relates to items recognised directly to equlty, in which case the deferred cument
income tax is also dealt with in equity.

Current income tax assets and liabilities are offsal when there is a legally enforceabls right
for the Group to offset curent tax assets against current tax liabiliies and when the Group
intends to settle its current tax assels and liabilities on a net basis.

Defarrad tax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the balance
sheet date between the tax bese of asselts and labilities and their carrying amount for
financial reporting purposes,

Defarrad tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, axcapt

= where the defarred tax liability arizes from the initial recognition of an asseat or liability in
a transaction which at the time of the related transaction affects naither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

» in respect of taxable lemporarily differences associated with investments in subsidiaries
and associates, and interests In joint ventures where timing of the reversal of tha
temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foresesable future,

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carried forward
unused tax credit and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which deductible temporary differences, carried forward unused tax
cradit and unused tax [osses can be utilised, except:

+ where the deferred tax asset in respect of deductible temporary difference which arises
from the initial recognition of an assel or liability which at the time of the related
transaction, affecis naither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

B in respect of deductible temporarily differences associated with investmenis in
subsidiaries, associales, and interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assels are
recognised only to the extent that It Is probable that the temporary differences will
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and
reduced to the extent that It is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised, Previously unrecognisad
deferred tax assels are re-assessed at each balance sheet date and are recognised o the
extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax assals
to be recovered.,

Deferred tax assets and labilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply
in the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled based on tax rates and tax
laws that have been enacted at the balance sheet date.
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MOTES TO THE COMSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMEMTS (continwed)
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3,20

4.1

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Taxation {continuead)
Deferred fax {continued)

Deferred tax is charged or credited to the consolidated income statement, except when it
relates to items recognised directly to equily, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt
with in the equity account,

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right for the
Group to off-set current tax assets against current tax Habilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authorly on:

¢ gither the same taxable entity; or

» when the Group intends either settle current tax liabilities and assels on a net basis or
to realise the assets and seifle the liabilties simultanecusly, in each future pericd in
which significant amounts of deferred tax fiabilities or assets are expected {o ba sattied
or recovered.

Segment information

A segment is 8 component determined separately by the Group which 15 engaged in
providing products or related services (business segment), or providing products or services
in @ particular economic envirenment (geographical segmant), that is subjact to risks and
returns that are different from those of other segments. As the Groups revenue and profit
are derived mainly from real estate business in Vietnam while other sources of revenue are
not material as a whole, the management accordingly believed that the Group operates in a
sole business segment of real estate. Geographical segment of the Group is in Vietnam
only. Accordingly, segment information is not presented.

Related parfies

Parties are considerad to be related parties of the Group If one party has the ability fo
control the other pary or exercise significant infiuence over the other party in making
financial and operating decisions, or when the Group and other party are under commaon
control or under common significant influence. Related parties can be enterprise or
individual, including clase members of the family of any such individual.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

Merged AGI & DDC Consultant Joint Stock Company (“AGI & DDC") and AGI & HVC
Consultant Joint Stock Company ("AGI & HVC") into AGI & GLC Consultant Joint
Stock Company (“AGI & GLC")

In accordance with Resolution No. 29/2024/NQ-AGI-PL dated 31 Dctober 2024, AGI & DDC
and AG| & HVC have been marged into &G & GLEC. The merger has been formalized by
DPl of Ha Chi Minh City through the issuance of the ™ amendad BRC dated 2 Decembaer
2024 to AG| & GLC.
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MOTES TO THE COMSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year than ended

5.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

ViND
Ending balance Beginning balance

Cash on hand 824 577,841 364 466,151
Cash at banks (™) 161,855,118,871 171,983,318 475
Cash equivalents (**} 4,500,000,000 800,050,000, 000
TOTAL 167,279,797,712 772,407,784, 627

{*)  In which an amount of WVND 3,000,000,000 is being restricted according to the decision
of an active judgment execution No. 1440/QD-CCTHADS dated 15 June 2020 of Civil
Judgment Enforcement Authorities of District 3, Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam.

{**] The ending balance represented deposits at commercial banks with original maturity
from one (1) to three (3} months and earn interest at applicable rates,

Additional information regarding the consolidated cash flow statement.

WD
Curren! pear Fravious yaar
Significant non-cash transactions that will
have impact on the consolidated cash flow
statement:
Transfer from deposits received o short-term
loan 225,000,000,000 -
HELD-TO-MATURITY INVESTMENTS
VND

Ending balance Beaginning balance

Short-term 30,103,957 ,263 54,630,326,729
Deposits in commercial banks (Maote 6 1) 30,103,957,263 54,530,326, 729
Long-term 89,424, 700,000 89,424,700,000
Redesmable prefarence shares (Note 6.2) 89,424,700,000 89,424 700,000
TOTAL 119,528,657,263  143,955,026,729
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
gs at 31 Dacambar 2024 and for the year then ended

8.1

6.2

HELD-TO-MATURITY INVESTMENTS (conlinued)

Short-term held-to-maturity investments

The ending balance represented shori-term deposits at commercial banks with original
maturity from six (5) to twelve (12) months earn interest at the applicable rates. Delalls are

as follows:

Joint Stock Commercial Bank for Investment
and Development of Vietnam

Vietnam Joint Stock Commercial Bank for
Industry and Trade — Branch 11

VND

Ending balance Purpose

13,883,021 427
11,500,000,000

Restricted accounts for
The Star project

Pledged as loans security

4 657 03T H32 (Note 22.1)
Asia Commercial Joint Stock Bank 52,998 304 Restricted accounts for
credit card

TOTAL 30,103,957, 263

Long-term held-to-maturity investments

Thizs balance represented the Group's investments in redesmabile preferance shares
("RPS") issued by its related parties ("the Issuers”). Details are as follows.

issuers of RPS Ending balance
Mo, of Value Redemplion dalte
shares VD
AGH & GLG Consultant 8,942 470  89,424700,000 Mot lzter than
Joint Stock Company {"AGI & GLC") April 2026
TOTAL B9,424 700,000
Provision for long-term investments 89,424,700,000
NET -

The terms and conditions relevant to the RPS which were issued by the Issuers ara as
foliows:

- The sharaholders held redeemabile preference do not carry voting rights;

- At any time, on condition that all the bank loans of the Issuers have been repaid or
prepaid in full, each shareholders held RPS will have the right at its option, to require
the Issuers to redeam all or part of its RPS on the put redeemable date at the
redemption prica;

- The Issisers may radeem all or a portion of the outstanding RPS, at the cption of the

Issuers, without the consent of the shareholders held RPS on the put redeemable date
which noted in the Term of RPS;

- Solong as any of the RPS are outstanding, the Issuers shall, without the approval of the
shareholders hald RPS holding at least 80% of the outstanding RPS (i) not declare, pay
or set apart for the payment any dividend on its ordinary shares: (i} not redeam of
purchase any ordinary shares; and (i} not issue any new shares;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {(continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

6.2

HELD-TO-MATURITY INVESTMENTS (continued)

Long-term held-to-maturity investments (continued)

The terms and condiions relevant to the RPS which were issued by the Issuers are as
follows: (continued)

For any dividend payment period where the Issuers declare and pays dividends to its
ordinary shareholders, the shareholders held RPS shall also be entitied to recalve and
the Issuers shall pay thereon dividends payable annually as calculated from lime to time
(“floating dividend"); and

In the case of quidation or dissolution of the lssuers or any distribution of assels of the
Issuers for the purpose of winding up its affairs, each shareholders held RPS shall be
entitied 1o the highest priority to receive the sum of the par value for such RPS, together
with all dividends declared and unpaid to the date of distribution, before any amounts
shall be paid or any assets of the Issuers shall be distributed to the holders of any
outstanding shares of the Issuers other than the RPS, subject to any distributions which
are ranked in the higher priority by law. The shareholders held RPS shall not be entitied
ta share in any further distribution of the property or assets of the |ssuers.

SHORT-TERM TRADE RECEIVABLES

VD
Ending balance  Baginning halance

Due from other parties 508, 187,374,087 425 726,375,637
In which:
- Individual customers buying apartments 503490415570  424,503.5886,810
- Others 4,696,958 617 1,122,488,727
Due from related parties (Note 32) 1,387,422 035 10,2809,312,027
TOTAL 509,574,796,122 436,015,687,564

SHORT-TERM ADVAMNCES TO SUPPLIERS

VD
Ending balance  Beginning balance

Viet Address Office Housing Development JSC

- Ciffice rental 16,024 B26 385 -
Dithers S74. 553 B16G 308,137,800
TOTAL 16,399, 380,201 308,137,800
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as st 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

8. LOAMN RECEIVABLES

VND

Ending balance  Beginning balance

Short-term 2,558,058,000,000 2,931,39%,916,000

Loan ta related parlles (Note 32) 2.558,058,000,000 29297949 818,000

Loan o other partles - 1,800,000,000
Long-term 260,410,000,000 118,139,200,000

Loan to related parties (Note 32) 260,410,000,000 118,139,200,000
TOTAL 2,818,468,000,000 3,049,538,116,000

Those loan receivables earn negotiable interest rates per annum with details as follows:

Repayment farm
Borrowers Ending balance of principal
VMDD
Short-term 2,558,058,000,000
Loans to related parties
zia Linh Real Esfale Corporation 2,285,523, 000,000 From 28 March 2025
{("zia Link"} (0 to 31 December 2025
Vinh Nguyen Managemen! and
Investment Company Limiled
{"Vinh Nguyen”) (i) 2568, 440,000,000 28 November 2028
An Gia Housing Developmeant Joint
Stock Company ("An Gia Housing”) (i) &, 095,000,000 19 April 2025
Long-term 260,410,000,000
Loan to related parties
Gia Link (i} 260, 410,000,000 13 Saptember 2026
TOTAL 2,818,468,000,000

{il  The Group lends to Gia Linh and An Gia Housing for the purpose of investing in the
The La Village project

(i)  The Group lends to Vinh Nguyen for the purpose of investing in the WestGate 2
project.
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An Gia Real Estate Investment and Development Corporation Boa-DNHN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

10.

OTHER RECEIVABLES

Short-term

Business Cooperation Contract ("BCC™)
with related parties (Mobe 32)

Intarest recaivables with related parties
(Mate 32)

Deposits for developing real estate projects
Varn Phal Hung Joint Stock Company

Other

Deposzit receivables from liquidated contracts

Advance to Project management team
(Note 32)

Interest receivables with other parbies
CHhers

Long-term
BCC with related partias (Wole 32)

Interast racahable with related parties (Nofe 32)

Deposits for developing real estate projects

TOTAL

Prowizion for doubtful short-term receivablas

MNET

I wihich:
Cwie from related parfies (Note 32)
= Shor-term
= Long-term
Due from other parfies

28

Ending halance

1,660,456,818,430

8651,619,000,000
365,369,835 514

274,489,370 883

VD
Baginning balance
1,854,206,924,740

954,729,080,000
498,236 618,475

274,736,531 138

274.456,379,883 274,456,379 883
33,000,000 280,151,255
27,000,000,000 27,000,000,000

25 613,346,378 B0,595,588,572
216,087,539 36,045,455, 165
3,128,165, 116 2 453,670,380
826,445,587,946  ©12,481,381,628
822 300,000,000  595,300,000,000
4,072,587,946 17,108,381,628
73,000,000 73,000,000
2,436,902,406,376  2,466,688,306,368
{27,000,000,000) _ (27,000,000,000)
2,459,902,406,376  2,439,688,306,368

2 181,994,773, 838
1,355,622 185 892
826,372 587,646
304,907,632, 538

2,126,369,648, 675
1,513,961,268.047
612,408,381,628
340,378, 656,683



An Gia Real Estate Investment and Development Corporation Bog-DNHN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

as at 31 Decamber 2024 and for the year then endad

11.

12,

INVENTORIES

Inveniories properties in progress

West Gate )

The Standard (%)

Signial
The Sdng )
Sky 89 ()

Rivar Panorama 1
River Panorama 2

Reaal estate invantories avallable for sales

Cost of service in progress

Merchandize
TOTAL

VD

Ending balance  Beginning balance
739,183,031,998 1,993.022,207,833
352,627.378,681 1,379,252, 338,532
153,049 553,618 304,366,766, 168
194,813, 717,033 233 644,281,969

28,922 519,759 5B, 762 145,771

8,769,863.008 B, 707 464,513

- 5 233 996 BT

- 5067213999
32,312,501,197 16,94 3,500,000
4,346,723,331 4,272 803,695
101,723,998 239,172,500
775,943,980,525 2,014 477,764,028

{*) The apartments of these projects are pledged as long-term loans (Note 22.3) and

(Note 22.4).

PREPAID EXPENSES

Short-term
Commission fea
Oiffice rental
Others

Long-term
Office renovalion
Cithers

TOTAL

26

Ending balance

111,949,117,158
109,770,198,017

2.178,919,141
4,038,714,419

3,752 816,264
285,898,155

VD

Baginning balance

260,358,616 329
248,756,610,348
12,227,752, 344
1,374,353.837

6,488,899,173
B, 181,634,804
307,264,279

115,987,831,577

266,847,515,502




An Gia Real Estate Investment and Development Corporation

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

13

TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Cost
Beginning balance
Disposal
Ending balance
In which:
Fully depreciated

Accumulated depreciation

Baginning balance
Depraciation for the year

Disposal

Ending balance

Met carrying amount
Beginning bakance
Ending balance

I wWitich.
Fledged as loans securify (Nofe 22.4)

Maans of fransporfation Oifice aguiprmant
25 T93 327 273 2,105,204 500
{3,688,800,000) =
22104 427 273 2.105,204,500

912 218782 2,105,204, 500
(11,594,036,5586) (2,038,641,881)
(2,800,467,021) (66,562,519)
2450 286,678 &
(12,035,236,859) {2,105,204,500)
14,198,290,717 66,562,518

10,069,190,374

2,068 000,000

Others lamgible assels

180,000,000

160,000,000

160,000,000

(154 666, 668)
(5,333,332)

BO9-DN/HN

VD
Tolal

28,058,531,773
(3,688,800,000)

24,368,631,773

(160,000,000)

5,333,332

=

177,422 682

(13,787,345,205)
(2.972,362.872)
2,458 266673

(14,300,447, 358)

14,271,186 558

10,069,190,374

2, 068,000,000



An Gia Real Estate Investment and Development Corporation  808-DN/HN
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

14. INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

VAND
Othars intangiite
Soffware syslem aszets Total
Cost
Beginning and ending
balances 18,962,948,082 275,500,000 19,238 448,082
In wiich;
Fully depreciated 2,711,764,000 275, 500,000 2,887, 264,000
Accumulated depreciation
Beginning balance (% 338,050, 368) (275,500,000} [3.614,050,366)
Amartization for the year {5,542,855,712) - _l:§ﬂ.§j2.355.?12]
Ending balance (5,881,406,078) {275,500,000) (9, 156,906,078)
Met carrying amount
10,081,542, 004 - 10,081,542,004

Ending balancea

28



An Gia Real Estate Investment and Development Corporation 803-ON/HN

MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINAMNCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then endad

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

VAND
Apartments  Apartmenis held for
for lease capifal appreciation Total
Cost
EBeginning balance 42 662 BB2 635 3942123306 46,604 956,031
Transfer from inventarias 65,730,823 372 - B85, 730,923 372
Transfer to inventories (77.498,058,915) (1.074,481,185)  (78,572,540,100)

Ending balance

Accumulated depreciation

Baginning balance
Dapreciation for the year

Disposal

Ending balance

Met carrying amount
Beginning balance
Ending balance

Addifional disclosure on

30,805,727,002 2 867,642,211 33,763,369,303
(5,857,787,042) - (5,857,787,042)
(1,319,289,326) - {1,319,289,326)

5.328,777,792 : 5,328,777.792
{1,848 298 576) - (1,948,298 576)
38,7085,075,583 3,942,123,396 40,647,158,989
28,947,428,516 2,867,642.211 31,815,070,727

The rental income and operating expenses relating o investmeant properties were presented

as follows,

Rental income fram investment properties

Direct operating expenses of investment properties

that generated rental income during the year

Curranl year

3,515,988,566
(1,580,830,13%)

VND
Pravipus Jear

1,166,210 424

(462,B95,082)

The future annual rental receivable under the operafing leases is disclosed in Note 33.

The fair value of the investment properties had not yel been formally assessed and
determined as at 31 December 2024, However, based on the current occupancy rate and
the market value of these properties, management believes thal these properties’ fair values
are higher than their carrying values at the balance sheel dates.

28



An Gia Real Estate Investment and Development Corporation Boa-DNHN

NOTES TO THE CONSCLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continuad)

as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

16.

17.

LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS

investmants in associates

Name Business Ending balance Beginning balance
activities o
%
awnnarship and Cost of ownership and Cast of
voting right investmeani voling right  invastmant
%) (WND O %) (YNDOOo)
Loc Phat
Investmant
Joint Stock Investrent and
Company management 40000 72,000,000 40,00 T2,000,000
AGI & GLC | consultancy 21.01 045,300 21.01 315,100
AGl & DDC - - 21.01 315,100
AGHE HVC - £ 21.01 315,100
TOTAL 72,945,300 72,945,300
Drietail of investmeants in associates are as follows:
VD
Total
Cost of investment:
Beginning and ending balances 72,945,300,000
Accumulated share in post-acquisition loss of the associates:
Beginning and ending balances (72,845,300,000)
Mot carrying amount:
Beginning and ending balances -
SHORT-TERM TRADE PAYABLES
VD
Ending bafance  Beglnning balance

Due to suppliers
Ricons Construction lnvestment
Jaint Sfock Company
Hien Duo Managemen! and Investmant
Company Limited
Newlacons Construction Investment Joint
Shock Company
Difver suppiiers
Due to related parties (Wole 32)

TOTAL

274 488,483,739
224,539,388,342
37,690,009,611

12,258,085, 786
11,500,534,582

439,195,432 300
320,640,451,047
53,026,678,807
14,150,432,204

61, 177,870,251
37.767,993,360

285,989,018,321

476,963,425,669

i

—

WU =



An Gia Real Estate Investment and Development Corporation Bog-DN/HN

MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINAMCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

18.

19,

20.

Cue to custamers

SHORT-TERM ADVANCES FROM CUSTOMERS

Individual customers - purchasing

apartmanis
Cifthers

Cue to retated parties (Mole 32)
TOTAL

STATUTORY OBLIGATIONS

Ernding balance

388,241,718,955
389,241, 719,855

90,605 283,872

VD
Beginning balance

1,631,643,1556,622

1,531,516,860,004
26,295,618
367 660,446,335

479,847,003,827

1,899,203,601,857

VND
Beginning balance ncrease in year Decraase in year Ending balance
Corporate
income tax  191.046,806,081 155,221,525 989 (174,249,623,8583) 172,018,708 087
Walue-
added tax 41,075,838 289 41,810,637 196  (60,326.121,549) 22,660,253 836
Personal
income tax 653,265,414 6.853,285,877  (6,200,807.834) 1,215,943 457
Others BGE 458 862 16,341,658,123 (14,886,887 735)  1,321,228,250
TOTAL 233,642,368,846 219,327,007,185 (255,753,241,101) 197,216,134,730

SHORT-TERM ACCRUED EXPENSES

Expanza for project development

Interast axpanses
An Gla Star project cosis
Interest for BCC

Cithers

TOTAL
I which:

Ending balance

393,750,383 660
23,392,389 374
11,387,102,737

7,964,007 450

VD
Eeginning balance

474, 812,456,089
44, 770,109,250
11,387,102, 737

2,456,280,023

Due to other parties - shorf ferm
Due to related parties - short-term (Note 32)

31

6,247,877,132
436,493,693,230  539,673,834,231
417,166,099,456  501,627,562,576

19,327,793,772 36,046,271,655



An Gia Real Estate Investment and Development Corporation Boa-DN/HN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

21.

22,

OTHER PAYABLES

Short-term
Payables to customers dua to termination

of contracts
Maintenance fee (1

Deposits for Issuance land use rights

Interest pevables

Deposits received from customers
purchasing apartments

BCC confribution from Gia An (1)
Deposits receivad (il

Cithers

Long-term

Maintenance fes
Deposits recelved

TOTAL

i

{i}

which:

Due to refated parties (Note 32)
Dua to ofher parties

Ending balance

745,067,978,046

247 243 020, 484
208,992,710, 761
215,594,701,600

57, 744 870,226

8,192 746 328

3,209,928 648

114,626,783,880
112,963,535,630
1,663,248 250

ViND
EBeginning balance

1,345,628,782,646

61,156,366,642
216,275,038 627

B4,311,371,184

12,480,978 669
765,000,000,000
225,481,185,000

915,842 624

110,382,302,259
108,581,472,2683
1,780,829,876

B59,6924,761,926

1,455,991,084,905

256,447 344 238
603 247,417,668

820,303,724,188
626,587 360,719

This balance will ba transferred by the Group to the management board of the
Residential projects that the Group developed as soon as the management board at
these projects is officially established according to the Housing Law 2014, The plan to
transfer maintenance fund has been prepared by the Group's management in its

financial plan for the years thereafter

{ii} The Group and Gia An agreed to cooperate in investing, implementing the construction,
operating and sharing profit from the West Gate projects for the period of thirty-six {35)
months from 20 April 2021. As at the balance sheet date, the Group refunded this

amount in full to Gia An (Mote 32).

(i) The deposit received balance has been converted into a short-term loan (Mote 22.2).

LOAMNS
Ending balanca
Short-term 1,046,029,080,929
Current portion of loans from another parties
(Mote 22.3) 587 ,673,000,000

Loans from related parties (Note 32)

Loans from banks (Nobte 22.1)

Current portion of loans from banks (Nole 22.4)
Current portion of long-term bonds

Long-term

Loan from other parties (Mofe 22.3)
Loans from banks (Nole 22.4)

TOTAL

293,587 ,700,000
163,888,380,928
480,000,000

371,116,500,000
200,000,000,000
171,116,500,000

VND
Beginning balance

769,264,156,753

188 072,500,000
2489 781,913,693

16,719,950,000
314,688, 793,060

§91,055,000,000
561,775,000,000
128,280,000,000

1,417,145,580,928

1,460,319,156,753

a2



An Gia Real Estate Investment and Development Corporation B0S-DNHN

MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and far the year than ended

22, LOANS (continued)

Maovement of loans are as follows:

VND

Cirrend year Fravious yeaar

Baginning balance 1,460,319,156,753 1,534 170,603,202

Drawdown of borrowings 745 B30, 486 555 583 202 440,788
Transfer from deposits received to short-term

loan 225,000,000,000 -

Repayment of borrowings {1,051,309,944, 6000 (1,103,448,414,427)

Allocaticn of bond issuance expensas 3,010,205,840 8,878, 027,190

Foreign exchange diferences due to revaluation 34445665281  26,516,500,000

Ending balance 1,417,145,580,929 1,460,319,156,753

The Ioans and bonds bear applicable interest rates,

* M85

ek



An Gia Real Estate Investment and Development Corporation

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continused)
&s at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

22.

22,1

22.2

LOANS (continued)

Shaort-term loans from banks

The Group obtained short-term ioans from banks to finance its working capital, Details are as follows:

Banks Ending balance Principal repayment larm
VD Lsp

The Shanghai Commermcial & Savings Bank, Ltd 122 567,750,960 4 796 955 25 April 2025

— Diffshora Banking Branch

Vietnam Bank for Industry and Trade — Branch 11 41,320,629,969 From 26 June 2025
to 11 Decembar 2025

TOTAL 163,888,380,929

Loan from related party

The loans obtained from other partes to finance the Group's working capital, as follows:

Lender Ending balance Frincipal repayment farm
VND uso

Short-term

Hien Duc Management And Investment Co., Lid 225,000,000,000 30 Movember 2025

Hoosiers WN-1 Lid &8,887,700,000 2,700,000 31 Decembaer 2025

TOTAL 293,987,700,000

34

BO09-DMN/HMN

Description of collalerals

Standby letter of credit secured by
subsidiary's assels

Fizad term deposit contracts

{Note &.1)

Deszcriplion of collaterals

Unsecurad
22,500 shares at AGIEHSR



An Gia Real Estate Investment and Development Corporation

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continusd)

as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

22,

22.3

LOANS (continued)

Loan from other parties

The loans abtained from other parties to finance the Group's working capital, as foltows:

Lender

Long-term
Hatra Pte. Lid,
T&M Financial Group JSC

TOTAL

In which:
Current portion
Mon-cumrent porfion

Ending balfance
VND

587 673,000,000
200, 000,000,000

787,673,000,000

587,673,000,000
200,000.000,000

35

Lso

23,000,000

Frincipal repaymant famm

27 June 2025
& May 2028

BO9-0M/HM

Dezcriplion of collaterals

Other proparties owned by other party

Land use rights and assels of
the Standard project



An Gia Real Estate Investment and Development Corporation BOS-DNMN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

22, LOANS {continued)

224 Long-term loans from banks
The Group obtained long-term loans from banks to finance its working capital. Details are as follows:
Banks Ending balamce Principal repayment farmm Description of callaferals
VND

Tien Phong Commercial Joint Stock Bank

Loan 1 134, 840 500,000 From 26 August 2026 The apartments of Westgate project
to 21 May 2027 iNote 71)
Loan 2 35,276,000,000 From 26 December 2026 The apartments of The Standard
to 11 Decamber 2026 project (Note 71)
Bao Viet Joint Stock Commercial Bank = Ho 430,000,000 From 10 March 2025 Means of transportation (Note 73)
Chi Minh City Branch to 30 Decamber 2025
TOTAL 171,596,500,000
I wivich:
Current portion 480,000,000
Nen-current portion 179,116 500,000

23. LONG-TERM PROVISIONS

The balance represents the provision for warranty of apartments that were completed and handed-over as at the balance sheel dates being provided at
rates ranging fram 1% to 2% of construction costs, based on specific features of projects and management's practical experiencas.



An Gia Real Estate Investment and Development Corporation

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
a5 at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

24,

241

OWNERS® EQUITY

Increase and decrease in owners' equity

Previous year

Beginning balanca

Dividend for non-centrodling interest
Adjustments due to non-controlling
interest finalization

Change due to merger the
subsidianes

Disposal of the subsidiary

Met profit for the year

Ending balance

Current year

Beginning balance

Dividend for non-controlling interest
Dividends declared (Nofe 24.3)
|ssuance of shares under

the Employee Stock Option Plan
(Nota 24 3)

Met profit for the year
Ending balance

Share capifal

1,251,183,680,000

Share premium

179,039, 188,200

Undistributed esrmings

§25,126,930,745

Mon-cantrofling
interasts

370,268.508,805
(325,341,801,022)

BO9-DM/HM

ViND

Tatal

2,725,618,707,754
(325,341,801,022)

. 3 467200820068 (46,299,829 D68) -

. . 213,520,001,935  (199,436,862,935) 14,092,135,000

z : 8,045 161,831 (5,680,821,768) 1,368,340,063

< . 175,358,105,258  285,025,950,583 460,384,055 845
1,251,183,680,000  179,039,188,200 1,368,363,028,841 77,535,544 600 2,876,121,441,641
1,251 183,660,000  179,039,188,200 1,368,363,028,841 77,535,544.600 2.876,121,441,641
; i = (36,761,829) {36.761,829)

312, 789,130,000 2 (312,789,130,000) % :
&1,308,000,000 - (61,308,000,000) = 2

: : 207 500,547,918  (36,496,546,255) 261,003.501,664

1,625,280,810,000

179,039,188,200

1,291,766 448,760

41,002,136,516

3,137,088,581,476

37
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An Gia Real Estate Investment and Development Corporation Bog-DNMN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

24, OWNERS® EQUITY {continued)

24.2  Share capital
Ending balance Beginning balance
%5 %
Number of Amount  owner  Number of Amoun! owner
shares VND'O00 -ship shares vND'OoD  -ship
Mguyen Ba
Zang 42 R08.881 425088910 2615 8,635,185 BE,351,850 6.50
Trucng Giang
iManagement
and Investment
JSC - . - 51349882 51349583820 41.04
Othars 120,019,190 1,200,191,800 73.85 65133301 651,333,010 52.06
TOTAL 162,528,081 1,625,280,810 100 125118368 1,251,183,680 100
Par value of share; WND 10,000/share, Shareholders holding common shares of the
Company are entitied to receive dividends declared by the Company, Each common stock
represents a voting right, without restriction.
24.3 Capital transactions with owners

Contributed share capital

Beginning balance

Dividend by shares (%)

Issuance of shares under

the Emploves Stock Ownership Plan (7]

Ending balance

VD

Current vear Prewvious year

1,251,183,660,000

1,251,183,680,000
312,789,130,000 -

§1,308,000,000
1,625,280,810,000

1,251,183,680,000

(*h  On 26 August 2024, the Company completed the issuance of 31,278,913 commeon
stock at a ratio of 25% (100:25) to pay dividends in shares in accordance with
Resolution of the Sharaholders’ Meeting No, 0B/2024/NG-AQH dated 14 May 2024, On
& Seplember 2024, the DPI of Ho Chi Minh City issued of the 18" amended BRC
approved the change of share capital to WND 1,563,972,810,000.

)

On 22 October 2024, the Company completed the issuance of 6,130,800 shares under

the employee stock option program from the Company's undistributed profit after tax in
accordance with Resolution No. 08/2024/NQ-AGI of the General Meeting of
Shareholders dated 14 May 2024, On 22 November 2024, the DPI of Ho Chi Minh City
issued of the 19" amended BRC approved the increase in share capital to WVND

1,625,280,810,000.

38



An Gia Real Estate Investment and Development Corporation B0s-DN/HN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [conlinued)
as at 31 Decamber 2024 and for the year then ended

24. OWHNERS' EQUITY (confinued)

244  Ordinary shares

Mumber of shares
Ending balance  Baginning balance

Authorized issuing shares 162,528,081 126,118,368

Issued and paid-up sharas
Ordinary shares 162 528,087 125 118368

Shares In circulation
Ovelinary shares 162 528,081 125 118,368

24.5 Earning per shares

Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing net profit after tax for the year
attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company (after adjusting for the bonus and
welfare fund) by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the
year,

The following refiects the income and share data used in the basic eamings per share
computations:

Current year Pravious year

Met profit after tax attributable to ordinary
sharehoiders (WD) 287 500,547 915 175,358,105,258

Met profit after tax attributable to ordinary
shareholders for earnings per share

computation (VIND) 297,600,547,919 175,358,105,258
Weighted average number of ordinary shares
in circulation during the year (i) 162,528,081 162,528,081
Earnings per share (VND)
Basic sarnings per share
{Par value. VND 10,000 per shars) 1.830 1,079
Diluted earnings per share
{Par value: VND 10,000 per shars) 1,830 1,078

(il The weighted average number of shares in circulation for the year ended 31 December
2023 and 2024 were adjusted to reflect the issuance of 31,278,913 stock dividends at
the ratio of 25% on 22 Oclober 2024 the issuance of 6,130,800 shares under the
employee stock option program from the Groups's undistributed earnings on 22
Oclober 2024

There have been no dilutive potential ordinary shares during the year and up to the date of
these consolidated financial statements.

29
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An Gia Real Estate Investment and Development Corporation  Bog-DNHN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

as at 31 December 2024 and for tha year then ended

25.1

25.2

REVENUE

Revenue from sale of goods and rendering of services

Reavenua from sale of apartmenis
Rendering of consulting, brekerage and

marketing services

Rendering of other services

TOTAL
fn wihich;

Eales o other parlies
Sales to related parties (Nofe 32)

Finance incame

Interest income from term deposits
and loan receivables

Interest from BCC

Foreign exchange gains

TOTAL
in which:

Dwa from redaled parlies (Wote 32)
Durer from otfer parties

Currant year

1,860 441,053,547

30.687,313,863
22,270,111,098

VND
Previous year

3,819,244 585 530

38 433,816,805
33,368,447 442

1,913,388,478,509

3,891,046,850,177

1,837,964,577.583
75,433,900,928

Curant Year

262,176,128,240

3,852,613,033,372
36,433,816,805

VND
Pravious year

254,129 966,022

119,085,358,962 115,882,014,031
98,078 768,044, 121
381,241,546,277 370.780,013,174

374, 118,136,882

COST OF GOODS SOLD AND SERVICES RENDERED

Cost of apartments scld

Cost of consulling, brokerage and markaling

services randered

Cost of other services

TOTAL

40

351,655,716,174

2,123,408,585 19,124, 257,000
VD

Current year Frawvious year
1,262,644 141,047  2,820,825,828,114
48,109,349 584 59,310,904, 783
5,271,418.375 25,024 027,334
1,319,924 910,206  2,914,160,760,231




An Gia Real Estate Investment and Development Corporation B0s-DMHN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

as at 31 Decamber 2024 and for the year then endad

27,

28.

29,

FINAMCE EXPENSES

Interest expenses

Provision for investments (Note 6.2}
Forgign exchange losses

Interest expenses from BCC
Payment discount

Allocation of bond issuance costs
Disposal of invastmant

Oihers

TOTAL

Current year

128,271,344 441
80,424,700,000
43,102 488,234
37,821,085 68588
13,228,170,233

3,010,206,940

15,558,804,576

VD
Frevious yeaar

118,811,087.370

26,516,244,147
22,811,606,738
4,364,509 564
9,878,027,190
1,199,330,489
20,389,127,813

330,5656,810,713

203,969,933,320

SELLING EXPENSES AND GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Selling expenses

Brokerage commission expenses
Interast suppor fee

Gifts and promotion fee

Others

General and administrative expenses
External services expanses

Labor cost

Depreciation and amortisation expenses
Tools and supplies

Others

TOTAL

OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSES

Other income
Confract violation penalty received
ihers

Other expenses

Contract viclation penally paid
Loss from disposal fived asset
Othirs

NET OTHER (LOSS) PROFIT

41

VND

Current year Pravious year
246,175,817,079 500,964,135,698
207,418,681,021 354, 768,468,189
20.482,978,947 130,732,383,262
2,875,654 726 13,408,994, 081
5,388,452 385 11,054,290,166
91,153,939,605 60,714,514,227
41,356,470,593 27,008,572 563
19,693,6841,596 22,058,925,507
7,915,349,226 4185 359,588
237416 987 824,613,502
21,950.861,003 8,641,043,067
337,329,756,584 570,678,649,925
VND

Current vear Pravious year
15,802,206,988 a7.930,665,965
10,679,484 232 BE 845,855 444
4 822,722,756 11.084,810,521
{21,011,224,801) {17.297,078,535)
(18,218,827, 164) (15,549,173,972)
{593,265 636) (213,079.530)
(2,199,127 851) (1,534,824,733)

(5,209,017,813)

80,633,587,430

A e O SN

——



An Gia Real Estate Investment and Development Corporation 808-DN/HN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 Decamber 2024 and for the year then ended

30, OPERATING COST

VAND

Ciirrent year Previous year

Cost of apariments sold (Mote 26) 1,262 544,141,947 2,829 825828114
External services expenses 28T 532 287,671 538,970, 708,261
Labor cosl BY, 803,191 480 B1,367 830,280
Depreciation and amortisation expenses 0,834, 507 910 5,323,462 867
COthers 29,540,537, 781 31,351,580,634
TOTAL 1,657,254 666,769 3,484,839,410,156

3. CORPORATE INCOME TAX
The CIT rate applicable to the Company and its subsidiaries ks 20% of taxable income.

The tax returns filed by the Company and its subsidiaries are subject to examination by tha
tax authorities. Because the application of tax laws and regulations to many types of
transactions is susceptible to varying interpretations, the amounts reported in the
consolidated financial statements could be changed at a later date upon final determination
by the tax authorities.

3.1 CIT expense

VND
Currant year Previous year
Current corporate income tax expense 171,885,086, 5808 210,725,741,773
Reversal provisional CIT at 1% on advances
received from customers (15,381,504 732} {12,147 060,848}
Adjustment for under accrual of tax from prior
YESrs . 300,000,000 1.734,200,778
Current corporate incoma tax axpensas 156,803,581,657 200,312,881,602
Defarred tax Income (118,187 854,051)  (78,653,526.126)
TOTAL 40,615,627 806 121,659,355, 476

Reconciliation between CIT expense and the accounting profit before tax multiplied by CIT
rate is presentad balow:

VND
Curren{ year Previous year
Accounting profit before tax 301,619,529,470 582,043,411,323
At CIT rate applicable to the Company
and its subsidiaries 60,323,905,804 116,408 682,265
Adjustmants;
Maon-deductible axpansas 32.504,170,334 18,420,204, 544
Unrecognised deferred tax asset for tax loss 7.938,731,740 30,419,939,480
nder acorual of tax from pricr years 300, 000,000 1,734, 200,779
Gains from changes in fair value of
investmants (60,262,262 TET) (28,925,597 ,189)
Tax loss and exceeding interest expansa
carried forward (488 917 3086) {30,719,313,598)
Loss from associates - 14,321,539, 1846
CIT expense 40,616,627 ,806 121,6569,3556.476
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An Gia Real Estate Investment and Development Corporation B0s-DMHN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 Decembar 2024 and for the year then ended

1.

1.2

31.3

CORPORATE INCOME TAX {continued)

Current tax

The current tax payable is based on taxable income for the current year. The taxable
income of the Group for the year differs from the accounting profit befors tax as reported in
the consolidated income statement because it excludes items of incoma or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are not taxable or
deductible. The Group's liability far current tax is calculated using tax rales that have been
enacted by the consolidated balance sheat date.

Defarred fax

The following are deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities recognised by the Group,
and the movements thereon, during the current and previous years as follows:

YND
Consolidated balance sheet Consolidated income stafermant
Ending Beginning Curent Pravious
balance balance year year
Doforred tax assets
Temporary non-
deductible
aperating
EXpENSES B9,604,602,521 74,153,220,650 (4,548618,029) 13,953,198, 780
Provigional CIT
paid at 1% on
advances
received 3,726,236,519  19,107,741,251 (15,381,504,732) (12,147,060,949)

Unrealised prafit 246,235 150 662,172 837 {415,936,707) (184,282,827)

73,677,075,190 93,923,134 658 (20,346,059,468)  1,621,855214

Defarred tax Nahilities

Difterancea in fair

valuse of net

assals fram

rarger 106.866,412,300 203,224,287 710 06,357 875410 (16,378,062,300)
Difference in fair

value of net

assets on

business

combination 2nd

capitalised interesl
expenses __22,35?’.305,%'." 62,533,443 6168 40,178,138 109 03.408,733.212

129,223,717,807 265,757,731,326 136,534,013,619 77,031,670,912

Net deferred tax credit to consolidated
income statement 116,187,954,061 78,653,526,126

43

LR



An Gia Real Estate Investment and Development Corporation B0s-DN/HN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINAMNCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then endad

3.

31.4

CORPORATE INCOME TAX {continued)

Tax losses carried forward

The Group is entitied to carry 1ax loss forward to offset against taxable income arising within
five years subsequent to the year in which the loss was incurred. At the consolidated
balance sheet date, the Group had aggregated accumulated tax losses of VWND
369,459,012 455 (31 December 2023: VND 392,404, 825601) available for offset against
future taxable income. Details are as follows:

WIND

an be Utillzed up fo Linutilized at

Originating wtiized up Tax logs 31 December 31 Decamber
year fo armount () 2024 Forfeited 2024
2019 2024 272682918426 (7.255,149,402) - 20,007,769,024
2020 2025 60,740,377 586 (37,751,014,374) - 22,980,363,212
2021 2026 40,757,131,188 (14,876,171,449) - 25,080,059,738
2022 2027 138,553 464,734 (4,488,380,355) - 134,065,084,379
2023 2028 148,852,177 401 - - 148,862 177 401
2024 2029 39,603,658,700 - - 30,683,658 700
TOTAL 453,869,728,035 (64,370,715,580) - 389,499,012,455

i) Estimated tax loss as per the Company and subsidiaries’ corporate income lax
declaraticn for the year ended 31 December 2024 has not been audited by the local
tax authorities as of the date of these consalidated financlal statements.
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An Gia Real Estate Investment and Development Corporation B0S-DNHN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

as at 31 Decamber 2024 and for the year then ended

32,

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES
List of related parties as at 31 December 2024 is as follow:
Related paries

Loc Phat Management and Development Joint Stock Company
{"Loc Phat")

Hung Yuong Real Estate Management and Development Joint
Stock Company ("Hung Vuong")

Dang Duong Real Estate Development Joint Stock Company
("Dang Duong”)

Gia Linh Real Estate Corporation ("Gia Linh")

Dong Mam Construction Trading Service Company Limited ("Dong Nam”)
Dong Nam Land Investment Company Limited {"Dong Nam Land”)

Al & DDC Consgultant Joint Stock Company

{dua to 2 December 2024)

Al & GLC Consultant Joint Stock Company

A & HVC Consultant Joint Stock Company

{due fo 2 Decembaer 2024}

Hien Duc Management And Investment Co., Ltd (*Hien Duc”)
(fram 1 December 2024)

Vinh Nauyen Management and Investment Company Limited
("Winh Nguyan®)

An Gia Housing Development Joint Stock Company

{“An Gla Housing™)

Gia Hung Real Estate Investment and Development Company
Limited (“Gia Hung")

An Gia Hung Phat Development Joint Stack Company
{"An Gia Hung Phat”)

Marm Duc Management and Investment Campany Limited
{"Mam Duc”)

Hoosiers Wh-1 Ltd {"Hoosiers”}

Wr Mguyen Ba S3ang

Mr Louis T Mguyen

Mr Masakazu Yamaguchi (due to 17 May 2024)

Mr Le Duy Binh

iAr Do Le Hung

Bir Vu Quang Thinh (due to 17 May 2024}

Mr Dac Thai Phuc (due to 17 May 2024)

Mr Nguyen Thanh Son {due to 17 May 2024)

rzs Mguyen Mai Giang

Mrs Mguyen Quynh Giang

Mrs Mguyen Huong Giang

Mr Mguyen Thanh Chau

Project management team

Relationship

Asgociate
Asgociate

Assaciate
Assaciale
Assaciate
Associate

Associabe
Associate

Associate

Common key
management parsonne
Common key
management personnel
Common key
management personnel
Commaon key
management personnal
Camman key
management parsonnal
Cammon ke
management parsonnei
Shareholder

Chairman

Member

Member

Indepandent member
Indepandant member
Indepandant member
hMember

anaral Director
Deputy General Director
Employesa of subsidiary
Employesa of subsidiary
Chiaf Accountant
Projects management
of subsidiaries

i

-
=
=
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An Gia Real Estate Investment and Development Corporation B0a-DN/HN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
as &t 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

iz

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES (continued)
Significant transactions with related parties during the year were as follows:

Related panlias Transachons

Significant transactions with related parties - The L Village profect

(Gia Linh Lending
Lending collection
Intarest Incame
Rendering of services

(Nota 25 1)

Lending collection
Interast incomea
Lending

BCC eallection
Loan repayment
Intarest expense

An Gia Housling

BCC reimbursemant
Payment interast

gxpensa from BCC
Interest expense from BCC
BCC contribution

Gig An

Current yaar

VIND
FPravious year

2,445 937,000,000 1,889, 786,000,000
1,479,747,916,000 1,074 280,000,000

168,098, 586,275
&,745,000,000

1,136,292,000,000
63,183,919 463
5,600,000,000

765,000,000,000

58,931,220,528
37,921,005,880

Significant transactions with related parties - The Gio project

Dong Mam Lending collection
Lending

Interest incoms

Lo Phat Intarest from BCC

Lean repayment
Interest income

BCC aontribution
Intarest from BCC

An Gia Hung Phat

286,908 ,200,000
205,500.000,000
10,227 906,432

36,882,271,230

=

200,000,000,000
G4,569 468 85T

64, 109,330,549

956,682,000,000
133 883,513,283
591,788,000,000
300,000,000,000
254, 700,000,000

2,191,664, 795

785,000,000,000

20,151,780,822
22,811,606,738
765, 000,000,000

197.500,000,000
47,961,000,000
16,158,760,853

36,781,490,008
560,000,000
23,924, 245

G22,619,000,000
62, 705,528,225

Significant transactions with related parties - The River Panaroma and Sky83 project

Hoosiers Prepayment inferest
expense

Interest expense

24,148,000,000
9,157,811,140

Significant transactions with related parties - Westgate 2 project

Lending

Lending collection
BCC contribution
Interest income
Interast from BCC

Yinh Nguyen

76,110,000,000
287,780,080,000
272,000,000,000
17,641,365,750
17,613,620,875

Significant transactions with related parties for other profects

An Gla Heusing Paymant of services
Rendering of senvices

(Wote 25.1)

Purchase of services

Gia Hung BCC confribution

46

141,830,5561,082

75,433,900,926

34,031,850,000
0,388,087 667

230,000,000,000

1.000,000,000
151,232,877
17,841,816,143

B3,497 046,668

38,433,816,805
58,121,721,850

120,000,000,000
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An Gia Real Estate Investment and Development Corporation B09-DNHN

MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

32,

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES (continued)

Significant transactions with related parties during the year were as follows: {continued)

Falated parties

Transaciions

Current year

VD
Prewigus year

Significant transactions with related parties for other projects (continued)

Mr Nguyen Ba Sang

Mrs Mguyen Huong Giang

Mrs Nguyen Quynh Giang

Mrs Mouyen hMai Giang

Advance purchase
apartments
Relmbursament
advance

Advance purchase
apartrents

Sales departments
Reimbursemeant
advance

Advance purchase
aparimeants
Relmbursement
advance

Reimbursamant
advance

19,734,9932,070

62,064, 783,896

10,338,115,232
9,748,840,978

17,659,924,000

15,624,559,188

15.152,813,780

33,659,817 538

148,757,308,962

78,912,515,295

-

77,320,084, 380

Amounts due from and due to related parties at the balance sheet datas were as follows:

Relaled parties

Transactions

Short-term trade receivablos (Male 7)

An Gia Housing

Mrs Mguyen Huong Giang

Gla Linh

Rendering of servicas
Sale of apamments
Randenng of senvices

Short-term loan receivables (Note 9)

Gia Linh

Winh Mguyen
An Gia Housing
Dong Marm

Lending
Lending
Lending
Landing

Long-term loan receivables (Nole 9)

Gia Linh
Dong Mam

Lending
Lending

47

VND

Ending balance  Beginning balance
843,310,735 3,544 312,027
544 111,300 .

- 6,745,000,000
1,387,422,035 10,2898,312,027

2,295 523,000,000

1,505,912,916,000

256,440,000,000 230,000,000,000
6,085,000,000 1,136,787,000,000

- 57,100,000.000
2,558,058,000,000 2,929,799,916,000
260,410,000,000 83,831,000,000

- 34,308,200,000

260,410,000,000 118,139,200,000




An Gia Real Estate Investment and Development Corporation Bog-DN/HN

MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuad)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

3

TRAMNSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES (continued)
Amounts due from and due to related parties at the balance sheet dates were as follows:

(continued)

Reiated partias Transachions

Other short-term receivables (Note 10}

An Gia Hung Phat (i) BCC coniribution
Interest from BCC
Vinh Mguyen (i) BCC contribution
Interast
An Gia Housing Interest
Gia Linh Interest
Loc Phat Interest from BCC
Gia Hung (iv) BCC contributian
Interast fram BCC
Dong Mam Interest
Project management team Advance
Other long-term receivalles (Note 14)
Loc Phat (i) BCC confribution
Winh Mguyen (i) BCC contribution

An Gia Hung Phat (1)

C5ia Linh
Gia Hung (iv}
Dong Mam

BCC contribution
interast income
BCC contributian

Imtarest income

Ending balamce

622,618,000,000
106,974,995 082

219,000,000,000
18,015,766, 743

262,820,136
231,185,666,818
9,270,953,424

120,000,000,000
816,453,886

863,193,425
26,613,346,378

Baginning balance

622,619,000,000
22, 705,528,225

332,110,060,000
38,872,415,7935

190,547 480,133
144,614, 814,047
46,205,852 054

16,290,528,221
60,995,580.572

1,355,622,185,892

1,513,961,268,047

350,300,000,000
272,000,000,000
20:0,000,000,000

4072 587 945

350,300.000,000
126,000,000,000

10,281,031,849
120,000,000,000

826,372,587,946

6,827,349,779
§12,408,381,628

Short-term trade payables (Nofe 17]

An Gia Housing (w)

(il

(i}

fii}

(i)

v}

Brokerage fee 11,500,534,682 37,767,993,360

The Group and An Gia Hung Phat agreed to cooperate to distribution, brokerage
and marketing services for The Gib project for a period of twelve [12) months since
27 Dacember 2024,

The Group and Vinh Nguyen agreed to cooperate in investing, implementing the
construction, operating and sharing profit fromn the real estate projects for the penod
of twelve (12) months from 31 December 2024 and thirty six (36} months from 17
August 2024,

The Group and Loc Phat cooperate in investing, implementing the construction,
operating and sharing profit from The Gid Project for the period of thirty-six (36)
months from 14 Seplember 2023,

The Group and Gla Hung cooperate in innovating The Song project for leasing,
operating and sharing profit for the period of twenly four (24) months from 26
December 2023,

The Group and An Gia Housing agreed to cooperate o distribution, brokerage and
marketing services for The Standard and The Westgate project for & period of
twelve {12) months since 31 December 2024,
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An Gia Real Estate Investment and Development Corporation B09-DMHN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

32,

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES {continued)

Amounts dug from and due to related parties at the balance sheet dates were as follows

(continued).

Related parties Transactions

Short-term advance from customer (Note 18]

Mr Nguyen Ba Sang Advance maﬁm
Mrs Nguyen Quynh Giang Advance toﬂ%:;rmaaﬁ
Mrs Nguyen Huong Giang Advance mﬂ%l{arﬁmhﬁ
Mrs Nguyen Mai Giang Advance mﬂﬁ?ﬁ?ﬁ?
Mr Mguyen Thanh Chau  Advance tnﬂp;}l;rm:ﬁ

Short-term accrued expenses (Nofe 20)

Haosiers
Gia An

Intarasl axpanses
Interest expenses

Other short-term payables {Note 21)

Gia An Interast expense from BCC

BCC contribution
Contract termination
Confract termination
Contract termination

Confract termination

Mr Nguyen Ba Sang

Mrs Nguyen Quynh Giang
Mrs Mguyen Mai Giang
Mrs Nguyen Huong Giang

An Gia Housing Interest expenses
Hher related parties Dividend
Short-term loans {Naote 22)

Hien Duc Short-term loan
Haosiers (*) Short-term loan

VD

Ending balanca  Beginning balance
24,184,483,951 135,467,244,941
21,974,382 095 B5,870,670,334
30,853.491,405 71.875,919,463
13,205,7 16,626 74,448,611,587
587,229, 894 -
90,605,283,872 367 660,446,335
19,327 793,772 35,589 982 632
- 2,456,2859,023
19,327,793,772 38,046,271,655
44,701,034, 605 53,254, 870,225
- 765,000,000,000

TH,BEG 840 BTZ2 -
70957, 765,608 g
32,933,4188917 -
27 980,284 232 -
- 1,066, 500,950

— B2.253,002

256,447,344, 238 B29,393,724,186
225 000,000,000 -
68,987,700,000 188,072, 500,000
283,987,700,000 188,072,500,000

(") These are loans obtained from a related party to finance the Group's working capital
requirement ard develop the real estate projects and bearing applicable interes! rate.

Details are as follows,

Lendar

Hoosiars — Loan 1 68,987, 700,000

Ending balance

Frincipal
repayment ferm

VIND  Origing! currency
(LS

48
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An Gia Real Estate Investment and Development Corporation Bog-DN/HN

MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

32,

33.

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES (continued)

Transactlons with other related parties
Remunaration to members of the Board of Directors and Management:

Incividals

Board of Directors:
Mr Nguyen Ba Sang
Wr Da Le Hung

Mr %u Quang Thinh
Wr Oao Thai Phuc
Wr Louis T Nguyen
Mr Le Duy Binh

Management;

Mr Nguyen Thanh Son
Mr Nguyen Thanh Chau
Ms Mguyen Mai Giang
Mirs Huynh Thi Kim Anh

TOTAL

COMMITMENTS

Operating lease commitment (lesses)

¥ivD

Famunaralion
Current year Pravious year
2,263,961,.000 533,200,000
BB BAS 888 533,333,328
248 999 998 533,333,328
249,988 998 533,333,328
1 ET| Eﬂﬂ'.ﬂﬂu -
166,686,665 -
1,268, 665631 .
1,2653.674,000 1,059,154 000
1,239,734, 783 G54 033 333
- 1,222, 700,000
7,269,080963 5,369,087 317

The Group leases its premises under operating lease arrangements. The minimum lease
commitment as at the balance sheet dates under the operating lease agreements are as

fullows:

From 1- 5 years
Less than 1 year

TOTAL

Operating lease commitment (lessor)

VND
Ending balance  Baginning balance
35,205,708,31 44,514 264 247
16,024,826, 386 13,450,527 578
51,320,624,717 57,964,791,825

The Group lets out commercial area under ocperating lease arrangement The future
minimum rental recelvables as at the balance sheel dates under the operating lease

agreements are as follows:

From 1 - 5 years
Less than 1 year

TOTAL

VD

Ending balance  Beginning balance

1,246,844,513 2,524 566 885
Tra. 773,632 1,785,615,462
2,018,618 445 4,310,182 347

a0



An Gia Real Estate Investment and Development Corporation 80s-CNHN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
as at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended

33.

34,

COMMITMENTS (continued)

Capital contribution obligation

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has outstanding received capital fransfer obligations from
other sharaholders in other entities as follows:

VD

Az at 31 Decamber 2024

Shareholders in other entilies Capital fransfer obligations
Loc Phat 108, 000,000,000
AGIRGLC 20,938, 775,000
Winh Mguyen 1.000,000,000
TOTAL 129,939,775,000

EVENT AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

There is no other matter or clreumstance that has arisen since the balance sheet date that
requires adjustment or disclosure in the conselidated financial statements of the Group.

Mguyen Thi Y MNhi Mguyen Thanh Chau
Praparer " Chief Accountant
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